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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

JMC RESTAURANT HOLDING, LLC, and JMC
RESTAURANT HOLDINGS
INTERNATIONAL, LLC,
MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff,
14 Civ. 6157 (WFK) (VMS)
-against-

MARCELO PEVIDA, JIA JU TAO, JOSEPH :
SILVESTRI, FRONT STREET RESTAURANT:
CORP., TAO INVESTMENT GROUP, and JIA
CAIl LEWIN,

Defendants.

FRONT STREET RESTAURANT CORP.,
MARCELO PEVIDA, and JIA JU TAO,

Third-party Plaintiffs,
-against-
FRANK CIOLLI,

Third-party Defendants.

VERA M. SCANLON, United States Magistrate Judge:
Before the Court is Plaintiffs’ motion f@anctions against Defendants Marcelo Pevida
(“Pevida”) and Jia Ju Tao (“Tap’and their counsel, Marti®hell, for alleged abuses of

discovery and fraud on the Coyptyrsuant to Federal Rules®@ivil Procedure (“Fed. R. Civ.
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P.”) 26(g), 37(b) and 37(c), 28 U.S.&£1927 and the Court’s inherent poveFor the reasons
stated herein, Plaintiffs’ motion éenied?
l. BACKGROUND

A General Background®

Grimaldi’s Pizzeria is a famous pizzerigta&urant with its origins in Brooklyn, New
York. See Amended Complaint, ECF No. 54 { 14. Between them, Plaintiffs own the U.S. and
Chinese registrations for the Grimaldi’'s Pidadrademarks, service marks and trade dress
(collectively, “Marks” or “Grimaldi’'s Marks”). Id. 11 21-30. DefendanBevida and Tao are the
sole owners of Front StreRestaurant Corp. (“Front Strégtwhich operates a nightclub in

Brooklyn, New York in a building shared with Grindéé Pizzeria’s originatestaurant._Id. 1 6,

L In the “conclusion” section of Plaintiffshemorandum of law, Plaintiffs briefly mention
that they also seek sanctions pursuant to Re@iv. P. 45._See ECF No. 61, Attachment #38, p.
19. Sanctions pursuant to this Rule are neitinemtioned by Plaintiffé the “introduction”

section nor substantively discussed elsewhetigeimn motion papers. Similarly, Fed. R. Civ. P.
45 is not mentioned at all in Plaintiffs’ rediyief. See generally ECF No. 63. Perhaps most
significantly, Plaintiffs have not affirmatively sought sanctiagainst Defendant Front Street,
see ECF No. 61, p. 1, which was purportedly sewid a subpoena in this matter and thus,
appears to be the only party against whonmatgan under Fed. R. Civ. P. 45 could conceivably
be proper. As such, this Court has not consdierhether sanctions pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
45 are appropriate.

2 As Plaintiffs’ motion is nondispositive in natytais decision is issueak an order rather
than as a report and recommendation. See FeCivRP. 72(a); Seena Int’l, Inc. v. One Step
Up, LTD., 15 Civ. 1095 (PKC) (BCM), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 64850, at *30 (S.D.N.Y. May 11,
2016) (“It is well-settled thadrders imposing monetary sametis as a remedy for discovery
misconduct are non-dispositive and fall within the g&rRule 72(a).”) (citing Thomas E. Hoar,
Inc. v. Sara Lee Corp., 900 F.2d 522, 525 (2d I880) (“Monetary sanctions pursuant to Rule
37 for noncompliance with discovery orders diguare committed to the discretion of the
magistrate [judge] . ...”)). Plaintiffs can, afuese, appeal this deasi to the District Judge
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(a). See BaineSity of New York, 10 Civ. 9545 (JMF) (JLC), 2016
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5857628, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. M&y 2016) (“Under Rule 72(a), a party may
object to a magistrate judgedsder on any non-dispositive man referred by the assigned
district judge.”);_ge also ECF No. 64.

3 These facts are drawn from the Amended@laint only to provide context; the Court
makes no determination asthe truth of the allegations.
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37, 38. Plaintiffs have not licensed or authorizexluse of Grimaldi's Reeria service marks in
China. _Id. § 31. Plaintiffslieage that Defendants PevidacaTao conspired to, and did, use
Plaintiffs’ marks, trade dress and good will withauthorization from Plaintiffs in order to open
a “counterfeit” Grimaldi’s Pizzeria in Shangh@&ihina (the “Shanghai R&aurant”). _1d. 1 48,
60.

B. Facts Related To Motion For Sanctions

1. Prior To The Commencement Of This Lawsuit

According to the Plaintiffs, in approximateluly or August of 2014, they first became
aware of the Shanghai Restaurant following comsr inquiries submitted to its affiliated U.S.
restaurants and a publication by “TimeOuaBghai”—an online news publication—which
inaccurately claimed that the restaurans\aa outpost of the original, Brooklyn-based
restaurant. _See DeclaratiohOlivier A. Beabeau, datetD/28/2015, ECF No. 61, Attachment
#4 (“Beabeau Decl.”) 1 8.Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff@arned that photographs of Defendant
Pevida adorned the walls of the Shanghai Regtaudee Beabeau Def§l10. With this limited
knowledge, in September 2014, Plaintiffs’ counsgitacted Defendants’ counsel, Martin Shell,
to inquire as to Defendants’ involvement in 8lganghai Restaurant. See Beabeau Decl. {1 7-8;
Declaration of Keith R. Ghut, dated 10/28/2015, ECF No. 6lttachment #1 (“Galbut Decl.”)
19 6, 9. Mr. Shell claimed that neither Riavnor Tao was involeewith the Shanghai
Restaurant in any way, and he offered to haselents execute affidavits confirming as much.

See Galbut Decl. 1 7-8, 10.

4 To the extent documentary exhibits arediby counsel to support assertions made in
their declarations, this Court gnieferences the respective daation and paragraph in which
they are cited.



Notwithstanding Mr. Shell's denials and thgparent willingness of Tao and Pevida to
execute affidavits, Plaintiffs teined an investigator in Shgimai to investigate the Shanghai
Restaurant. See Beabeau Decl. 1 4. Accorittige investigator, the Shanghai Restaurant
maintained a partner “in New York.” See BeabBaual. 1 5. On the bastd the investigator’s
report and the pictures of Mr. Pevida, among othiigs, Plaintiffs filed their initial Complaint
on October 21, 2014. See ECF No. 1.

2. Following Commencement Of The Lawsuit, But Prior To Discovery

In December 2014, before filing Defendants’ Aeswo the Complaint, Mr. Shell served
a “safe-harbor” lettepursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 omaintiffs’ counsel demanding withdrawal
of the Complaint, threatening sanctions agaiaintiffs, and asseng that Plaintiffs’

“complaint seeks redress for actions committe8hanghai by persons other than [Defendants]
Pevida and Tao.” See Beabeau Decl. § 15. ridlefiets subsequently filed their Answer denying
any involvement—individually or through compasi@ which they own an interest—in the
Shanghai Restaurant. See ECF No. 10 11 42-46, 55-56, 58, 111-116.

In February 2015, Mr. Shell filed a letter orhiaéf of Defendants seeking a pre-motion
conference to move to dismiBfaintiffs’ Complaint on the basis of lack of subject-matter
jurisdiction, in which he statdthat “Defendants have no involvement with the operations of the
Shanghai [Restaurant] nor they tthey receive any income fromehtbusiness.” See ECF No. 18.
In March 2015, at the pre-motion conference belistrict Judge KuntzMr. Shell argued that
“all of the acts, everything that happened, thalfsged, happened across the world in China.
Nothing happened here in America.” See BxabDecl. { 22. During this same pre-motion
conference, District Judge Kuntz warned Mrelbthat it would not “le a good hair day for you

guys” if Defendants were discovered to beadily involved with the Shanghai Restaurant,



particularly in light of the Slinghai Restaurant’s use of Mr.Mia’s photographs. See Beabeau
Decl. 1 23.
3. Defendants’ Fed. R. Cv. P. 26(a) Disclosures

Defendants served their Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(s§losures on Plaintiffs in late January
2015, which—as discussed in more detail beletid not include a reference to any joint
venture agreements, emails oxttmessages, or the identitielsany persons involved in the
Shanghai Restaurant. See Beabeau Decl. § 17.

4, Defendants’ Responses To Rintiffs’ Discovery Demands

In February 2015, Plaintiffs served writtdiscovery requests ddefendants pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 33, 34 and 36. See Beabezul.[¥ 19. In theiMarch 2015 response,
Defendants interposed various objections,esgnted that they did not possess documents
pertaining to the Shanghai Rastant and claimed to “own[] geral businesses none of which
have any relationship to the Shanglfestaurant] or any of the isssiraised to this matter.” See
Beabeau Decl. T 24.

More specifically, irresponse to requests for “allragments known to [Defendants]
relating, directly or indirectly, tthe Shanghai Restaurant,” identé#ion of “all use in . . . China
of any of [Plaintiffs’] Marks,” an explanatioof “[Defendants’] relationship with the Shanghai
Restaurant” and identification tdill facts known to [Deéndants] regarding ¢hestablishment of
the Shanghai Restaurant,” Defendants respofidgahe.” See Beabeau Decl.  24. The only
documents Defendants disclosed in responsey@fPlaintiffs’ requests were organizational
documents for Front Street. See Beabeau Decl. { 25.

In their responses to requests for admission, Defendants denied any affiliation with the

Shanghai Restaurant, knowledggasling investors in the ShanglRestaurant, participation in



the establishment and/or operation of the Sharigastaurant, or the right to compensation for
the establishment and/or operation of thar§jhai Restaurant. See Beabeau Decl. § 24.
5. Defendants’ Counsel’'s Statement$o The Court And Follow-up

During an April 2015 conference before thisu@t, and, later, in a joint letter from
counsel in May 2015, Plaintiffslleged that Defendants wearepossession of documentation
that had not yet been producececeBeabeau Decl. | 26; ECF No. 28.

At the April 2015 conference, Mr. Shellaained that his clients had produced all
documents in their possession, stating “we’ve produced all the dotfjahikat we have at this
time. We’ve answered all [of Plaintiffs’] quemns.” See Beabeau Decl. { 26; ECF No. 34. Mr.
Shell reiterated this point during\ay 2015 conference before this Court:

Well, your Honor, | have with resgt to Mr. Pevida and Mr. Tao, |
have made several objections widspect to the documents that
[Plaintiffs] asked for. Despitdnbse objections, | have produced
every document | have within npossession and that [Defendants]
have given to me and | have made a number of requests for
[Plaintiffs] to assemble all the documents they have that relate to
the questions that have been akkad everything | have has been

produced. There are no other doeunts that are responsive to
[Plaintiffs’] request tavir. Pevida or Mr. Tao.

* k% %

[Defendants] have absolutatything to do with the Shanghai
[R]estaurant, okay? . . . They have no documents between them
and the Shanghai [R]estauramd I'm sure that disappoints
[P]laintiff[s’] counsel but that’gust the truth of the matter.
[Defendants] have no documents.
See Beabeau Decl. § 29; ECF No. 34. DutiregMay 2015 conferencthis Court ordered
Defendants to supplement their prior productibpgroducing, inter aliacertain corporate
governance documents. See Bealieacl. I 30; ECF Nos. 31, 35.
Several days after the May 2015 conferemtaintiffs served ¢etter on Defendants

demanding supplemental disclosures pursuaketb R. Civ. P. 26, 33, 34 and 37. According to



Plaintiffs, Defendants refused to timely supplement their prior disclosures and discovery
responses. See Beabeau Decl. T 31.
6. Plaintiffs Seek Documens Via Alternative Means

In February 2015—prior to Defendants’ servideheir discovery responses—Plaintiffs
served a subpoena on Knights Investment Grou@, (“KIG”). See Beabeau Decl. § 38. After
lengthy discussions were held regarding cliemge with the subpoen®laintiffs and KIG
reached a private agreement for the disclosureanfrds regarding the Shanghai Restaurant. See
Beabeau Decl. § 38. Thereafter,June, July and August 20I8&spectively, KIG disclosed to
Plaintiffs upwards of 2,400 records purportediiated to the Shanghai Restaurant. See Beabeau
Decl. 1 39.

Among the documents disclosed by KIG w#re following: (1) two joint venture
agreements (“JV Agreements”) executed by Defend&ih@, Hongfei Zhang, Radiant King and
Gao Rongn 2012 and 2013 securing a 30% ownershigrast for Defendants’ wholly-owned
company (Front Street) in the Shanghai Resint; (2) photos of Dendants at a signing
ceremony for the 2012 JV Agreement in New York; and (3) emails and text messages amongst
Defendants and/or tand from KIG,Radiant King, Emmanuel Garcia and Samuel Espin&se
Beabeau Decl. 11 38-40.

7. Defendants’ Deposition Testimony

Defendants’ depositions were held in early June 2015. See Beabeau Decl. {1 32-33. At
Tao’s deposition, Tao denied having an email account; denied ever having used email to
communicate regarding the Shanghai Restaurant or otherwise; denied executing any agreements
regarding the Shanghai Restaurant; denied knowledge of any written agreements (by Front Street or
anyone else) regarding the Shanghai Restaurant; claimed he only had one meeting with KIG and that
it did not amount to anything; denied any knowledge of KIG’s involvement with the Shanghai
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Restaurant; and denied all knowledge of Radiant King, a signatory to the 2013 JV Agreement. See
Beabeau Decl. 1 32.

At Pevida’s deposition, Pevida denied any involvement with the Shanghai Restaurant; refuted
published claims by the manager of the Shanghai Restaurant (Tina Lou) that he is involved in the
Shanghai Restauramngnied knowledge of the KIG representative who signed the JV Agreements
(Hongfei Zhang, with whom Pevida is pictured at the New York signing ceremony); and denied
knowledge of Radiant King. See Beabeau Decl. ¥ 33.

8. Defendants’ Subsequent Discloses and Motion To Dismiss

On July 24, 2015—four months after Defendantsext responses to Plaintiffs’ Rule 34
request for documents—Mr. Shell (on belwlbnly Pevida) served Plaintiffs with a
“supplemental disclosure” of twenty-twdmcuments._See Beabeau Decl. § 34. The
supplemental disclosure included emails exaded between Pevida and Tao in 2012 and 2013
discussing the JV Agreements, drafts of whieere attached to the emails. Id.

On August 14, 2015, Defendants Tao and Pesgttaed Plaintiffs with a motion to
dismiss to Complaint based on, inter alia, a pagablack of jurisditon, see ECF No. 45, in
which Defendants stated that “Radiant [Kirgid other investors moved forward with the
planning for [the Shanghai Restant] based on contracts Frontegit first entered into in
2012,” and attached the 2012 and 2013 JV Agre&smsegned by Pevida and Tao on behalf of
Front Street in support thefedSee Beabeau Decl. | 35.

On October 21, 2015—seven months after Beémts served responses to Plaintiffs’

Rule 34 request for documents—Defendants naad¢her supplemental disclosure of emails.

5 Pevida was confronted lais deposition with the JV Agreements and emails from his
email accountorwarding allegedly misappropriated laling plans for Grimaldi's Pizzeria’s
coal-brick oven to Tao for apparent deliverythe Shanghai Restauranh response, Pevida
claimed his signatures on the JV Agreemevese forgeries. See Beabeau Decl. 1 35.
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See Beabeau Decl.  36. The emails provideeapto be communicats between Pevida and
Emmanuel Garcia, a former Shanghai Restawemployee, between January 2015 and March
2015 regarding unpaid wages due to ShanghaaRestt employees and a planned meeting in
New York between Pevida and the operators @fShanghai Restaurant set to occur sometime in
March 2015. See Beabeau Decl. § 36.

C. Summary Of The Parties’ Positiors As To The Merits Of The Lawsuit

According to Plaintiffs, Defendants engagea “calculated stragy to conceal [their]
involvement in the Shanghai Restaurant” insafathe JV Agreements—which were initially
obtained through third-party dieeery from KIG—confirm thaffao and Pevida, through Front
Street, own a 30% stake in the Shanghai RestauFanrttheir part, Defendants essentially argue
that this is a misunderstanding. More specificallao and Pevida claimahthe JV Agreements
evidence nothing more than their attempingl with KIG and Radiant King, to open a legal
Grimaldi’s Pizzeria in China, but that they hdtrew from the venture when they were unable to
legally acquire the Grimaldi’'s Marks. Aftédiao and Pevida withdrew from the venture,
according to Defendants, Radiant King— oné¢hef original investors—partnered with Patsy
Grimaldi and subsequently opehine Shanghai Restaurant.

The Court will now consider the arguments raised by the Parties in their memoranda of

law.



I. ANALYSIS

A. Applicable Legal Standards

Plaintiffs seek sanctions undere different legal bases, each of which has its own legal
standard._See Footnote 1, supra.

1. Rule26(g)

Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g) requiréisat an attorney certify byffaxing his signature that the
discovery disclosure is true and completendhe case of discovergquests, responses and
objections, that it is not frolous, improper, unreasonable duty burdensome or expensive.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g). “Rule 2§)is intended to deter andrbudiscovery abuses, including

evasive responses, by explicitly encouragirggithposition of sanctions.” Kiobel v. Royal

Dutch Petroleum Co., 02 Civ. 7618 (KMBIBP), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 55185, at *8

(S.D.N.Y. June 25, 2009) (internal quotations omittetherefore, if an attorney’s certification
violates Rule 26(g)(1) “withoutdbstantial justificationthe court . . . must impose an appropriate
sanction” on the certifying attorney, theecit, or both. Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g)(3).

“As the plain language of Rule 26(g)(3)piies, the imposition of sanctions for a
violation of Rule 26(g) is madatory, although a court has digare over which sanction it must

impose.” _Markey v. Lapolla Indus., 12 CV 46@B5) (AKT), 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112915, at

*51 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2015) (interhguotations & alterations omitted). Rule 26(g)(3) permits
sanctions, including reasonable expenses anchatte' fees, “caused by the violation” of the
Rule. Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g)(3). “Accordiggkourts have interpreted Rule 26(g)(3) as
incorporating a requirement that there be hamultimg from the alleged violation of the Rule.”

Markey, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112915, at *52 (citing Kara Holding Corp. v. Getty Petroleum

Mktg., 99 Civ. 0275 (RWS), 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15864, at *67 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 13, 2004)
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(“[S]anctions under Rule 26(g) are not apprajeri@hen a party has not been harmed by the
failure of his adversary.”) (internal quotations omitted)).
2. Rule37(b)(2)
Rule 37(b)(2) states that a court may grant sang against a party th&tils to obey an
order to provide or permit discovery.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2). “Although bad faith is not
required to impose sanctions pursuant to Ru(®)82), ‘intentional behavior, actions taken in

bad faith, or grossly negligent behavior justifyese disciplinary sanctions.”” Vaigasi v. Solow

Mgmt. Corp., 11 Civ. 5088 (RMB) (HBP), 2016%J Dist. LEXIS 18460, at *58 (S.D.N.Y. Feb.

16, 2016) (quoting Metropolitan Opera Ass’nwcal 100, Hotel Emps. & Rest. Emps. Int’l

Union,212 F.R.D. 178, 219 (S.D.N.Y. 2003)); seelsdrbakovskiy v. Da Capo Al Fine, Ltd.,

490 F.3d 130, 140 (2d Cir. 2007) (“[T]he severitytbk] sanction must be commensurate with
the non-compliance.”). Whether to impose siams “is committed to the sound discretion of
the district court and may not be reversed abaerabuse of that discretion.” Luft v. Crown

Publishers, Inc., 906 F.2d 862, 865 (2d Cir. 199ibin¢g; inter alia, Nat'l Hockey League v.

Metropolitan Hockey Club, Inc., 423.S. 639, 642 (1976) (per curiam)).

3. Rule37(c)(1)

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c), a courymmapose sanctions in the event of a party’s
failure to disclose, to supplemeart earlier response, or to admust required by Rule 26(a) or (e),
“unless the failure was substatiifgustified or is harmless.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1). The
purpose of this Rule is to prevent the piccof “sandbagging” an opposing party with new

evidence._Ventra v. United States, 121 F. Supp. 2d 326, 332 (S.D.N.Y. 2000). The Rule permits

a court to impose a variety of sanctions for osry-related abuses, incling “[the] payment of

the reasonable expenses, including attorney’s feels.’"Where, as here, “the alleged misconduct

11



is the non-production of relevadbcuments, district courts have broad discretion in fashioning

an appropriate sanction.” Fddedus., Inc. v. Onyx Specialty Papers, Inc., 302 F.R.D. 288, 293

(E.D.N.Y. 2014) (citing Createy Resources Group of New Jersey v. Creative Resources Group,

Inc., 212 F.R.D. 94, 102 (E.D.N.Y. 2009)).

When seeking sanctions for a failurept@duce discovery, the moving party must
demonstrate: “(1) that the g having control over the evidence had an obligation to timely
produce it; (2) that the party that failed to timphpduce the evidence had ‘a culpable state of

mind’; and (3) that the missing evidence is ‘relevaothe party’s claim or defense such that a

reasonable trier of fact could find it would suppo#ttblaim or defense.” In re Sept. 11th Liab.

Ins. Coverage Cases, 243 F.R.D. 114, 12B.(8Y. 2007) (quoting Residential Funding Corp.

v. DeGeorge Fin. Corp., 306 F.3d 99, 107 (2d Cir. 2002)).

4, 28 U.S.C. § 1927 And The Court’s Inherent Authority
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1927, “[a]ny attorney who so multiplies the proceedings in
any case unreasonably and vexatipusay be required by the cduo satisfy personally the
excess costs, expenses, and attorneys’ fees reasonably incurred because of such conduct.”
Similarly, under the Court’s inherent authorityctantrol the proceedings that take place before
it, any federal court “may exercise its inherpatver to sanction a party or an attorney who has

‘acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or fippressive reasons.” Ransmeier v. Mariani,

718 F.3d 64, 68 (2d Cir. 2013) (quoting ChamhemASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 43-44 (1991)).

Under either of these grounda court must find clear éence that (1) the offending

party’s claims were emly without color, and (2) the claimgere brought in bad faith—that is,

‘motivated by improper purposes such as harassment or delay.” Eisemann v. Greene, 204 F.3d

6 Although, by its terms, Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1) permits the preclusion of evidence as an
option, Defendants only seek atteys’ fees under this Rule.
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393, 396 (2d Cir. 2000) (quoting Schlaifer Mar& Co. v. Estate of Warhol, 194 F.3d 323, 336

(2d Cir. 1999)). “The test is conjunctivadaneither meritlessness alone nor improper purpose

alone will suffice.” _Sierra Club v. U.S. Arntyorps of Eng’rs, 776 F.2d 383, 390 (2d Cir. 1985).

“With respect to the first requirement, a ateis entirely without color when it lacks any

basis in law or fact.”_Main v. Giordano, 11 Civ. 4507 (ARRJO), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

61007, at *38 (E.D.N.Y. May 9, 201@iting Sierra Club, 776 F.2at 390). “With respect to
the second requirement, the bad faith standardespreted stringently.” 1d. (citing Eisemann,
204 F.3d at 396). “[B]ad faith may be inferred ‘piflactions are so completely without merit
as to require the conclusioratithey must have been unddwtn for some improper purpose

such as delay.” Schlaifer, 194 F.3d at 336 (quoting Shafii v. British Airways, PLC, 83 F.3d

566, 571 (2d Cir. 1996)). “A determination that atpar attorney acted in bad faith demands a

‘high degree of specificity in the factual findingd the district court.” _Martin, 2016 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 61007, at *38 (quoting Dow Chem. Pacifitd. v. Rascator MaS.A., 782 F.2d 329, 344

(2d Cir. 1986)).
“These grounds for imposing sanctions matéridiffer only insofar as sanctions under
28 U.S.C. § 1927 are limited to attegrs or others authorized toggtice before the courts.” 1d.

“Sanctions imposed pursuant the court’s inheagrthority are not so limited; they may be

imposed against an attorney, a party, ohljotd. at *38-39 (citing Oliveri v. Thompson, 803
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F.2d 1265, 1273 (2d Cir. 1986) (describing thisths only meaningful difference between an
award made under 8§ 1927 and one made patdo the court’s inherent power”)).

B. Application

1. Plaintiffs Fail To Offer Sufficient Legal Analysis To Justify The
Imposition Of Sanctions Pursuant ToFed. R. Civ. P. 26(g), 28 U.S.C.
§ 1927 Or The Court’s Inherent Power

Although Plaintiffs submitted a memorandwifiaw in support of their motion for
sanctions, they failed to engageaittequate legal analysis orget forth case law in their moving
brief that would explain why the imposition thfe sanctions they seek under Fed. R. Civ. P.
26(g), 28 U.S.C. § 1927, or the Court’s inheqamiver is warranted. Plaintiffs’ memorandum of
law can be divided into three sections: thistfientitled “background States the facts and
allegations which form the basis of Plaintiffebtion and are otherwis@wtained in Plaintiffs’
counsel’'s accompanying affidavits, seeFEo. 61, Attachment #38, p. 3-11; the second,
entitled “legal standard,” referees the rules pursuant to whicralpkiffs seek sanctions, as well
as the standard under which these rules coulthpesed, id. at p. 11-1and the third, entitled
“defendants engaged in textbosdnctionable conduct,” essentidtighlights what Plaintiffs
purport to be the most important facts, buamaccusatory manner, id. at p. 15-19.

Although Plaintiffs refer to Fed. R. Cif2. 26(g), 28 U.S.C. § 1927 and the Court’s
inherent power in the “legal standard” sectionhair brief, they do not attempt to explain which
specific acts of Defendants andDefendants’ counsel, apg@ied to the relevant legal
standards, they believe are sanctionable. idGext p. 15-19. Riintiffs’ submission “effectively

places on the court the burden of conductingritial legal analysis that is properly the

responsibility of [Plaintiffs’] counsel.”_Rblut v. 300 E. 74th St. Owners Corp., 96 Civ. 5762

(JSM) (MHD), 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 242, at *2.(&N.Y. Jan. 16, 1997). This is particularly
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true where, as here, Plaintiffs broadly seaetctans against Defendarifao and Pevida, as well
as Defendants’ counsel, Mr. Shell, but do not dadiy explain or analze which individual or
individuals should be sanctionedder what authority for whicépecific acts. It is not the
Court’s responsibility to fill ithe analytical gaps left by Plaintiffs or to tie together the
purported facts supporting their motion and thellegias under which &y seek relief.

In sum, Plaintiffs’ failure to engage in ldgmalysis in their mowig brief, alone, merits
denial of their motion insofar as it seeksetlinder Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g), 28 U.S.C. § 1927 and
the Court’s inherent powér SeeQuinio v. Aala, 15 Civ. 4912 (PKC) (ST), 2016 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 59639, at *6-7 (E.D.N.Y. May 4, 2016) (notititat moving party’s fdure to engage in
legal analysis or set forth case law authagzihe imposition of the sanctions sought “alone

merits denial of plaintiff's mton”); Tylena M. v. Heartshr@ Human Servs., 02 Civ. 8401 (VM)

(THK), 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10398, at *9 (3.N.Y. June 7, 2004) (denying motion for
sanctions because the moving party failedit® any legal authdy in support of its
application).

2. This Court Will Not Decide The Ultimate Issue Of Fact In The Case
On A Discovery Motion

Notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ failve to provide sufficient lgal analysis, sanctions under
Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g), 28 U.S.C. § 1927 andGbaert's inherent power would be otherwise
inappropriate because such a finding would necdgsaquire this Court to resolve the ultimate
issue of fact in this litigationMuch, if not all, of Plaintiffs’argument stems from their belief

that the JV Agreements conclusively praeo and Pevida’s 30% aership stake in the

! Although Plaintiffs superficially referenoase law in their reply brief which could
arguably be described as legal anisly§i]t is well settled that a dirict court is free to disregard
argument raised for the first time in replyppas.” Kenney v. Clayl1 Civ. 790 (DNH) (ATB),
2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37535, at *20-21 (N.D.N.Mar. 23, 2016) (citing Am. Hotel Int’l
Group Inc. v. OneBeacon Ins. Co., 611 F. Supp. 2d 373, 375 (S.D.N.Y. 2009)).
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Shanghai Restaurant, while Defendants claim that the same JV Agreements evidence nothing
more than a business venture th@cluded before a restaurant in China could be launched after
Tao and Pevida failed to acquttee rights to the Grimaldi’'s Mask It is, thus, Defendants’

position that they respected, not disregarded, W&. This fundamental disagreement is at the
heart of both Plaintiffs’ sanctions motion and tleermination of Defendants’ liability in this
litigation. At this juncture, tis Court cannot, and will not, assurthe ultimate fact-finding role

by determining whether the JV Agreements, agnitre other evidence presented by Plainfiffs,

conclusively support any Parties’ version of ever@@$. Scholastic, Inc. v. Stouffer, 221 F. Supp.

2d 425, 440-445 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (finding of sanns based largely amdisputed facts).
3. Rule 37(b) and 37(c) Sanctions
Notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ failee to provide legal suppadidr sanctions under Fed. R.
Civ. P. 26(g), 28 U.S.C. § 1927 and the Court’s iehepower, it is well-settled that a court
supervising discovery has broad discretion to isgpganctions pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 37 for

discovery abuses. See Shcherbakovskiy vCB@o Al Fine, Ltd., 490 F.3d 130, 135 (2d Cir.

2007) (“[Dlistrict courts possessgide discretion in imposing satmans under Rule 37.” (internal

guotation & citation omitted)); John B. Hull,dnv. Waterbury Petreum Prods., Inc., 845 F.2d

1172, 1176 (2d Cir. 1988) (the “imposition of sanctiangler Rule 37 is within the discretion of
the district court”). “The paytseeking Rule 37 sanctions betirs burden of showing that the

opposing party failed to timely disclose infeation.” Markey v. Lapolla Indus., 12 Civ. 4622

8 In addition, Plaintiffs point to evidenceatthmay show that Defendants Tao and Pevida
lied during their depositions, forwarded misappiaigd building and oven plans to be used for
the Shanghai Restaurant, and paid Shanghaa&esit employees even as this litigation
progressed. As with the JV Agreements, Defatgldispute the conclusions to be drawn from
this purported evidence. The “table of aams” section of Plaintiffs’ memorandum of law
underscores how much of the Parties’ substardispute turns on credliby, as Plaintiffs
repeatedly refer therein to “Defendaries.” See ECF No. 61, Attachment #38, p. 2.
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(JS) (AKT), 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112915, at64E.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2015) (internal quotation
marks omitted).
a. Rule37(b)

With respect to Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(b), Plaintdfspear to argue that Defendants should be
sanctioned for their purported failure to oltkg Court’s May 12, 2015 Order, which called for
Defendants to produce various documents reledd-ront Street’s business by May 19, 2015.
See ECF Nos. 31, 35. The exact documents trdiuced were discussed with the Court in
general terms durintpe May 12, 2015 conference, seeFH{o. 35, and the May 12, 2015 Order
itself required Defendants to “supplement itjgfroduction as to corporate governance
documents and other documents that were disduseng the . . . confence,” see ECF No. 31.
Plaintiffs do not state what specific documehtsy believe should have been produced pursuant
to the May 12, 2015 Order, but which were natthough, perhaps, Defendants did not comply
with the Court’'s May 12, 2015 Order, Plaintiffsiéal to subsequently file a motion to compel,
and according to Tao and Pevida, Defendants saoppited their disclosures in July, August and
October of 2015.

A sanction under these circumstances isamanted, as the Court’s May 12, 2015 Order
did not include a clear list of the documebifendants were requirgéd produce._See Daval

Steel Products, a Div. of Francosteel ©or. M/V Fakredine, 951 F.2d 1357, 1363 (2d Cir.

1991) (“Provided that there is a clearly articulated ordé¢h@fourt requing specified
discovery, the district court kahe authority to impose RUb¥ (b) sanctions for noncompliance
with that order.”) (citation omitted). To tlntrary, the spirit of the May 12, 2015 Order was
that the Parties should work together to damaite and confirm the production of responsive

documents._See Transcript of 5/12/2015 Conference, ECF No. 35, p. 15 (“[The Court’s]

17



suggestion is that you work together to figuretbetdocument issues . . . .”). Along a similar
vein, the Court’'s September 3, 2015 Order requinedParties to “confer” as to additional
documents related to licensing and KIG. See ECF No. 42, p. 2.
b. Rule 37(c)
“Discovery is run largely by attorneysyéthe court and the judicial process depend

upon honesty and fair dealing among attorneys.fel8ept. 11th, 214 F.R.D. at 125. Thus, as

previously noted, “a court may impose sanctiontheevent of party’s fare to disclose, to
supplement an earlier responsetmadmit as required by Rule 26@)(e), ‘unless the failure
was substantially justified or is harmlésdMarkey, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112915, at *46
(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(2)).

Here, Plaintiffs appear togue that, pursuant to Fed. ®v. P. 26(e), 33 and 34, Tao and
Pevida should have produced to Plaintiffs andlentified: (1) the JV Agreements; (2) a set of
emails from 2012 and 2013 between DefendamiiskdG discussing the JV Agreements; (3) a
set emails from 2015 between Pevida and natyfammanuel Garcia regarding unpaid wages
due to Shanghai Restaurant employees and a planned meeting in New York between Pevida and
the operators of the Shanghai Restaurant¢araa March 2015; and J4ext messages between
Tao and a representative of KIG from 2018cdissing the Grimaldi’'s Marks registered by
Plaintiffs (collectively, “the diputed documents”). Plaintiffsaiim that the disputed documents
should have been produced anddantified in response toeffollowing interrogatories, among
others:

Identify all agreements known to you relating, directly or
indirectly, to the SAnghai Restaurant.

* k% %

Identify all use in commerce in . China of the any of the
[Grimaldi’s] Marks of which yoware aware by persons other than
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you or Plaintiffs[, including] . . . any communications between you
and the person using the [Grimaldi’s] Marks.

* % %

Explain in detail your relationghiwith the Shanghai Restaurant.

* % %

Identify all facts known to you regding the establishment of the
Shanghai Restaurant.

See Beabeau Decl. T 24. In their discovery demands, Plaintiffs defined “Shanghai Restaurant”
and “[Grimaldi’s] Marks” as follows:

Shanghai Restaurant: [T]he restaurant operating as ‘Patsy

Grimaldi’s’ and/or ‘Patsy Grimal& Coal Brick-Oven Pizzeria’ in

Shanghai, China and located at or near No. 24-25 Lane 320,

Tianping Road, Xhui District.

* % %

[Grimaldi’'s] Marks: Grimaldi’s Grimaldi’s Coal Brick-Oven
Pizzeria, Patsy Grimaldi's, Patsy Grimaldi’'s Coal-Brick Oven
Pizzeria, and/or any derivations thereof.

In response, Defendants’ argument is two-fdiitst, Defendants claim that they did not
identify or produce the disputed documents beediaintiffs defined “Shanghai Restaurant” too
narrowly to encompass Tao and Pevida’s unsuadgssit venture, and failed to define the
terms “relationship” and “establishment.” AsfBedants summarily argue, “Plaintiffs must live
with their definitions, errors on their parcinded.” _See ECF No. 62, p. 10. Second, Defendants
assert that, even if Plaintiffs’ claim is tru@aintiffs did not suffer any harm because the
disputed documents were either produce&lsy and/or by Defendants as part of their
supplemental disclosures. Id. at p. 3.

On balance, the Court agrees with Defendtr@seven if they should have produced the
documents sought in response to Plaintiffs’ discgwlemands earlier, the failure to do so prior

to October 2015 was harmless. Ridis are not entirely clear itheir moving brief, but as far as
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the Court can glean, Plaintiffs claim that Defendafailure to disclos¢he disputed documents
“delayed the litigation by nearly a year” and fedcPlaintiffs to secureecords from KIG “at

great expense.” _See ECF No. 61, Attachment #38, poth assertions are belied by the record
before the Court, as much—if not all—of the actitadgen by Plaintiffs’ ounsel in this litigation
were, or would have been, undertaken irrespeafiDefendants’ initidack of production or
disclosure.

With regard to Plaintiffs’ claim of “dely,” Plaintiffs imply that, had Defendants
disclosed the disputed documents in March 2@Mould have somehow obviated the need for
continued litigation in this matte Plaintiffs’ flawed logic, though, assumes that which the Court
has already declined to conclualethis juncture: that the JV Agreements conclusively establish
that Defendants are liable as alleged in Rléh Amended Complaint. Even if Defendants had
produced the disputed documents in March 2@i&Parties would nonetheless have disputed
the conclusions to be drawn from these docusjgust as they do now, thus necessitating the
same continued litigation as has otherwise occurred.

Similarly, even if Defendants had produced disputed documents in their responses to
Plaintiffs’ discovery demands, Plaintiffs wauhave sought all the same documents and/or
additional documents from KIG through thirdryadiscovery, and thus incurred the same
expenses. To be sure, Plaintiffs servedl@peena on KIG in February 2015, see Beabeau Decl.
1 38, more than a month before Defendants éaginan opportunity to provide their discovery

responses in March 2025Thus, Plaintiffs had already embarked on a course of litigation with

9 Although not dispositive, it ialso worth noting that Plaiiffs were ultimately in

possession of all disputed documents andmétion they claim Defendants should have

disclosed by, at the latest, October 2015.0fhis writing, in June 2016, discovery has not
concluded, in large part because of the addibomttempted addition, of new parties. See ECF
Nos. 54, 92. As such, Plaintiffs have had a more than adequate opportunity to conduct any and
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KIG without having received Dendants’ responses, raisiagy alleged deficiency with
Defendants’ counsel, or seekindgieéfrom the Court via a matn to compel. Defendants will
not be sanctioned and required to pay for Rféhtitigation cost incurred as a result of
Plaintiffs’ efforts to develop a completecord from non-party sources.
In sum, because Plaintiffs suffered nejpdice, Defendants’ allegedly delayed
disclosure of the disputed documents and information was harmless, and thus, sanctions pursuant

to Rule 37(c) are not warranted. See bujaCabana Mgmt., 284 F.R.D. 50, 68 (E.D.N.Y.

2012) (“An omission or delay in siclosure is harmless where thexéan absence of prejudice”
to the offended party.”).
[I. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs’ motion for sanctiomersed

Dated: June 14, 2016
Brooklyn, New York

Nara A QBcarlon

VERA M. SCANLON
United States Magistrate Judge

all discovery that may have stemmed from #tlegedly delayed production of the disputed
documents.
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